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Chapter 1
Wednesday 8 January 1964
Nick Allen looked a forlorn figure as he sat alone in the school changing room shivering and covered head to foot in mud. It was half-time, the Sandridge Grammar School under 15 football team were playing Cottonmill Boys School in the Quarter final of the St Albans Benevolent Cup and were one nil down and Nick had missed a penalty. To make matters worse no-one was being particularly friendly towards Nick. Recent events had made Nick a little unpopular, especially with those involved with the school football team. Before Christmas Nick had uncovered a protection racket in the school and numerous first year students were being bullied into giving away half their dinner money. The result was that the two main culprits had been expelled; unfortunately they were both very good footballers and the main stay of the school football team. Just to make matters worse Sandridge Grammar school was traditionally a rugby playing school and the Headmaster Mr Mills, under pressure form the Sports Master Mr Freeman, had agreed to let football be played, at all levels, only if the under 15 side won the Benevolent Cup. Also Nick wasn’t talking to his friend Keith Nevin whom he felt had betrayed him during the investigation.
‘Well’ said Mr Freeman, a tall athletic man in his mid-thirties and although his main sport was basketball he had a great passion for football, ‘a repeat of that performance will not see us through to the semi-final will it?’

‘No sir’ replied Danny Fooks, the stocky captain of the football team, with a mass of uncontrollable curly hair ‘but they’re a very good side and very strong. And, no disrespect but we are missing a couple of our best players.’

‘I know that, but what’s done is done and we can’t change it. Alan Prince and Eddie Lee were bullies and the headmaster had no alternative but to expel them. So let’s not hear any more about them, is that understood?’

Two or three of the team mumbled ‘Yes sir.’

‘Now what we have got to do is to find a way of beating this team, Oh unlucky with the penalty Nick, just a little to close to the post. I know it sounds obvious but if we keep possession of the ball we’ll have more chance of scoring. It’s very muddy out there so try to keep our passes short and crisp and Nick put away your personal vendettas and work with Keith. With the skill you two possess we should walk this game. So come on lads’ shouted Mr Freeman clapping his hands ‘get out there and show me what you can do.’

As the two teams emerged from the changing rooms Danny Fooks yelled ‘come on you lot, I don’t know about you but I don’t fancy playing rugby all next year.’

It was a cold murky afternoon, slightly warmer than it should be for January, which made the ground rather muddy after some recent rain. As a spectacle the game was very poor with most of the play centred around the middle of the pitch, which had cut up quite bad and most of the passes were going astray. The wings however still had plenty of grass and Nick thought that if Sandridge could get the ball out wide, their wingers could make some head way. Mr Freeman had selected a new player to play outside right, his name Mick Parsons. Although small in stature he was very fast and had good close control. Being new to the team, he hadn’t seen much of the ball and Nick was also being starved as well. With time ticking away, Nick had estimated that there were only about fifteen minutes to go when, after finding some space he received the ball. He turned, looked up and sent a delightful ball down the right wing. Parsons was like a greyhound out of a trap chasing the ball. He reached it just on the half way line and sprinted down the right wing. He easily avoided a couple of hearty challenges and just before he reached the corner flag he sent a delightful cross which Keith Nevin met firmly with his head to score the equalizer.

It was clear to all the Sandridge players that Parsons was the player to win this game and they pumped the ball to him at every occasion. After about four runs down the wing which has all resulted in good scoring chances, Cottonmill responded by putting their two fastest players to mark him. This resulted in Parsons being sent flying as the two defenders tackled him simultaneously. Whilst receiving treatment from Mr Freeman Nick ran over to have a quick word..

‘Mick’, said Nick ‘you’re playing brilliantly but they think you are a one trick pony, next time you get the ball cut inside and have a run at goal’.

‘Okay Nick’ gasped Mick still trying to get his breath, ‘I’ll give it a try.’

‘How long to go sir?’ asked Nick.

‘Only a few minutes’ replied Mr Freeman ‘and I don’t think the light will hold for extra-time.’

Play resumed with a free kick which was easily defended by the Cottonmill defence.  Their attack was broken up by an excellent tackle by Danny Fooks who then passed the ball to Keith Nevin. Nevin received the ball in the centre circle; Nick was ten yards to his right, called for the ball. Nevin looked up; there were other players in better positions. He looked at Nick, smiled and said ‘all yours’ and passed the ball to Nick. 

Nick strode forward looking for Parsons; he spotted him hugging the touchline with his two markers in close proximity. It was a chance; he chipped the ball over the defenders into the space behind them. Before they could turn Parsons was away, but instead of running down the wing he cut inside and made his way towards the goal. His two markers were chasing but were never going to catch him, the centre half was left in his wake and the rest of the defenders were slipping as they tried to turn in the mud. Nick just watched as Parsons easily rounded the goalkeeper and stroked home the ball to put Sandridge Grammar into the semi-final of the Benevolent Cup.    

After showering and changing Nick started to make his way home. He hadn’t cycled far when Keith Nevin caught him up.

‘That was a close game’ gasped Keith.

‘S’pose’ replied Nick.

‘Oh for god’s sake I’ve said sorry a million times, when are you going to forgive me?

‘I’m sorry, but I find betrayal a little hard to forgive.’

‘I thought you were suppose to be a Christian, isn’t forgiving one of their main things? I mean, it’s not like I kissed you in the garden or anything.’  

Nick found that amusing and tried to suppress a laugh.

‘That’s better’ said Keith ‘you can’t be angry forever.’

‘Okay, okay, I’ll think about it. What are you doing Saturday, thought I might go and see Spurs play; fancy it?’

‘Can’t this week, got my Auntie coming round for tea. Shame that, would have been nice,’

‘Never mind, another time.’

‘So what else have you been up to, bought any new records lately?’

 ‘As it happens I had some money left over from Christmas so I popped to the Record Room and bought Glad All Over by the Dave Clark Five, Secret Love by Kathy Kirby and Sugar and Spice by the Searchers.’

‘Good choice, did you see that new programme last week Top of the Pops, I thought it was brilliant.’

‘Fantastic, can’t wait to see it next week.’

So Nick and Keith cycled home together, the friendship maybe still a little strained but it was on the mend. 
Chapter 2
Saturday 11 January 1964

Tottenham Hotspur were playing Blackburn Rovers at White Hart Lane and Nick decided this was just the tonic he needed. Even though his friendship with Keith was on the mend he still wasn’t 100% happy. The events of last term were still hanging over him and he felt people were always staring at him. What he needed was a tonic and seeing his favourite team thrash Blackburn Rovers would certainly fit the bill. He left home early to watch the match, catching the train from St. Pancras and then a tube to Finsbury Park where he would catch a bus to the ground. He knew a nice little café in Seven Sisters Road, just opposite the Astoria Theatre. He always stopped there for something to eat. The café was quite crowded but one bay in the corner was free. He sat himself down with his mug of tea and decided to start an essay that he had been given for homework and had to be submitted on Monday. The essay was entitled “my thoughts today”. He had just written two sentences when the door to the café opened and four young men in their early twenties burst in. 

‘Four teas and four bacon sarnies please Mable’ shouted one of the men with a broad Liverpool accent.

The four looked around and saw that the only space was next to Nick and without hesitation squeezed in the bay with Nick.

‘Don’t mind if we join yer lad?’ asked the man who had ordered their food. ‘My name’s John what’s yours?’

Before Nick had chance to answer John grabbed Nick’s exercise book and said ‘What yer writing?’

‘Just doing my homework and my name’s Nick.’

‘Well Nick you haven’t done much have yer? Oh this is Paul, he’s George and the ugly one’s called Ringo.’

‘Nice to meet you’ gasped Nick.

‘What’s he written?’ asked Paul.

‘Not at lot’ exclaimed John ‘but it’s a good start – Yesterday all my troubles seem so far away, now it looks as though there are here to stay.’

‘Sounds a bit depressing to me’ mocked Ringo.

‘Could be the first line of one of your songs John’ laughed George.

‘Yer never know’ exclaimed John.

‘So, what are you doing in London? asked Nick.

It’s our last night at the Astoria, you mean yer not coming to see us?’
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‘Afraid not, going to see the Spurs play, but I am a big fan of yours, bought all your records.’

‘Ham, egg and chips and four bacon sarnies’ yelled Mabel.

‘Over ‘ere luv’ replied Ringo making room on the table.

Mabel brought over the food, laid out the cutlery and Nick along with the four lads from Liverpool eat their meals, shared jokes and told stories until it was time for Nick to catch his bus. Nick hadn’t enjoyed himself so much for a long time and felt on top of the world as he arrived at the ground just in time for kick-off. Surely the day couldn’t get any better as he found himself a decent view at the Paxton Road end of the ground. But it did, as the Spurs demolished Blackburn Rovers 4-1 and Nick’s favourite player Jimmy Greaves scored a hat-trick.   
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Nick arrived back at St Albans station at around 7:00 pm and was in such a good mood he decided to walk home instead of getting the bus. From the station he walked up Victoria Street turned right into St Peters Street. To save a few minutes he turned into Adelaide Street, a poorly lit side road which ran adjacent to his old infant school. Still humming to himself I Wanna Hold Your Hand and totally oblivious to his surroundings he was set upon by four youths. First he was pushed quite hard in the back; he stumbled but managed to keep his feet. When he turned round a fist struck him in the mouth, he could taste the blood trickling from his cut lip. Before he had time to react he was punched in the stomach and then his legs were kicked away. He fell to the floor; he instinctively brought his knees up to his chest as more kicks rained in on him.   
 ‘Stop that’ he heard a female voice cry.

‘This is just the beginning’ a familiar voice snarled.

Nick heard the assailants run off as the female voice asked ‘Are you alright?’

‘Not really’ he replied, ‘could you call an ambulance. There’s a phone box at the end of the road.’

An elderly lady came out of her cottage and said ‘What’s all the noise, I’m trying to listen to the wireless?’

‘Sorry love’ said the female voice ‘this young boy has just been attacked, I think he’s badly hurt, could you phone for an ambulance.’

‘Oh dear, I’ll go straight away, do you have any pennies?’

The female voice opened her purse and gave the old lady four pennies, ‘here you are and please hurry.’

Nick managed to say ‘you don’t need any money for a 999 call.’

‘Silly me’ laughed the elderly lady running towards the phone. Nick noticed that she didn’t return the money.

‘Try not to move’ said the female voice as she comforted him in her arms. 

Nick tried to get comfortable but he was hurting all over. He wiped away the blood from a cut above his eye that was impairing his vision so he could see the girl. When she came into vision, he thought she must be about nineteen years old. She had dark brown hair in a bouffant style, big beautiful brown eyes and reminded him a bit of Elizabeth Taylor.

‘I hope I haven’t stopped you going somewhere’ he asked.

‘Well I’m meeting some friends at the Jazz Club but it won’t matter if I’m a bit late.’

‘You’re very kind, what’s your name?’

‘My name is Jane, Jane Goldberg, and whom do I have the pleasure of attending to.’

‘I’m Nick….’ He said as he fell unconscious.

Chapter 3

Sunday 12 January 1964
When Nick regained full consciousness he found himself tucked up comfortably in a hospital bed. He felt very sore, his head was thumping, his ribs were aching and his mouth was very dry. 

‘Ah, you are awake at last,’ said a very pretty nurse whose name was Nurse Hickey, ‘we’ve been worried about you.’

Nick rubbed his eyes and stared at the vision in front of him. He guessed she must be about eighteen years old, five foot five inches tall and immaculately dressed in her uniform. Her grey/green eyes shone out from her heart-shaped face and a smile that would melt any heart. 

‘What happened?’ asked Nick, still a bit confused.

‘You’ve had a bit of an accident, now don’t try and move, the doctor will be here soon and he can explain everything to you.’ 

‘Can I have a glass of water please; my mouth is as dry as the desert.’

‘Certainly’ said Nurse Hickey as she helped Nick sit up and put the glass to his lips.

‘Thank you,’ said Nick ‘you’re very kind and if you don’t mind me saying, very pretty.’

‘Thank you’ said Nurse Hickey, feeling her cheeks blushing ‘ah, here comes the Doctor.’

A tall handsome man in a clean white coat appeared at the end of the bed’ he picked up the clipboard and looked at the medical notes attached.

‘Good morning Nick’ he said ‘my name is Doctor Wilson and it looks like you have been in the wars.’

‘Just a little trouble with the natives, nothing to worry about,’ replied Nick.

‘Two busted ribs, a broken tooth, five stitches plus multiple bruising and he says nothing to worry about. Someone doesn’t like you young Nick Allen.’

‘Can’t please everybody’ said Nick very sheepishly.

‘You’re right there, but Nick, you have been very lucky; it could have been a lot worse. I’ve spoken to the police and they will be along later to interview you. We can’t have this type of thing happening on our streets. Now you need to rest; anything you want just ask Nurse Hickey, she’s one of our finest nurses.’

Nick noticed that Nurse Hickey was blushing even more now. 
The police came in about one o’clock that afternoon and Nick made a statement stating the facts as best he could remember. Asked if he could identify his assailants he stated that although it was dark he recognised one of the voices as belonging to Alan Prince. The policeman made a note of this and said he would be looking into it. Visiting time in the hospital was between two and four o’clock and Nick parents were the first through the door followed by his little brother Richard. Richard, who insisted on being called Dick, was six years younger than Nick, looked bored as soon as he entered he ward. Mrs Allen, a petite woman in her late thirties, started crying as soon as she saw Nick and kept repeating ‘my poor boy, my poor boy’ and stroking his hair. Mr Allen, who a lot of people said looked like Tyrone Powell and a year older than Mrs Allen, kept a stiff upper lip and said ‘this sort of thing wouldn’t have happened in my day and they shouldn’t have abolished National Service.’ Although Nick loved his parents to bits he felt a bit uncomfortable and was struggling to keep a conversation going. As luck would have it on the stroke of three o’clock his friends Keith Nevin and Don Patrick walked in the ward. Mr Allen, who was eager to see some documentary on the television, said ‘well I think it’s time for us to leave and let Nick talk to his friends.’ Mrs Allen started crying again and Nick said ‘I’m alright mother, I’m coming home tomorrow, and then you can fuss over me all you like.’ So Mr and Mrs Allen and young Dick bid their farewells and left Nick with his friends. 

‘I thought they would never go’ gasped Nick.

‘Well it’s good to see you’ said Don, ‘are you in much pain?’

‘Quite a lot’ replied Nick ‘but I can take it.’

‘You took one hell of a beating’ said Keith taking a serious look at the bruises on Nicks face. 

‘It would have been a lot worse if I wasn’t saved by some beautiful girl’ replied Nick.

‘Oh do tell us, what was she like?’ said Keith excitedly.

But before Nick could answer Nurse Hickey approached his bed and stuck a thermometer in his mouth, grabbed his wrist and started counting to herself. After a minute she removed the thermometer, looked at it, gave it a shake and said ‘all done’. After writing the details on the chart she went to attend another patient. 

‘Wow’ exclaimed Keith ‘she’s a little cracker’

‘I know; she’s gorgeous and very efficient’ agreed Nick.

‘I say chaps’ interrupted Don, who is a year younger than Nick and Keith and attends a Catholic school ‘are you two interested in girls all of a sudden?’

Nick and Keith both blushed. Nick was first to answer ‘well I suppose I must be. You see I been getting these funny feelings whenever a pretty girl walks by.’

‘Have you?’ gasped Keith ‘so have I. Do you think it’s normal?’

‘I didn’t come here to listen to you two talk about your funny feelings. I want to know all about the beating and who where the culprits.’ interrupted Don.

Nick laughed, ‘sorry Don, but you’ll get them soon enough.

‘I don’t think so’ said Don ‘I’m a catholic, we’re not allowed those sorts of feelings.’

This time Keith laughed ‘it won’t be long before you’re looking at the women’s underwear pages of your mum’s Littlewoods catalogue.’ 

Don blushed.

‘And then you’ll be playing “tents” in the morning as well’ said Nick

‘You’re disgusting, both of you’ replied Don trying to suppress a laugh.

Then all three burst out laughing, they laughed so loud that Nurse Hickey rushed over to them.

‘Quiet boys, you are disturbing all the other patients’ she shouted.

  But try as they might they couldn’t stop laughing. 

‘I’m going to have to ask you two to leave, Nick needs his rest.’

Keith and Don managed to contain themselves for just enough time to say goodbye to Nick before running out of the ward in a fit of hysterics. Nick managed to suppress his laughter and looked up at Nurse Hickey who was standing, hands on hips with a serious look on her face.

‘Are you quite finished?’ she inquired.

‘Sorry about that’ replied Nick looking rather sheepish.. ‘Can I ask you a question?’

‘And what might that be?’

‘Do you have a boyfriend?’

‘No I don’t,’ she replied. Nick smiled. ‘But I have a fiancé.’  

‘Lucky fellow’ muttered Nick feeling despondent. .

‘I think so,’ she smiled at Nick and then went to attend another patient.

Nick sighed, looked through the pile of comics his mother had brought in and decided on The Victor and turned straight to Tough of the Track featuring Alf Tupper. He was just finishing the latest episode of Gorgeous Gus when the bell sounded for the end of visiting time. Automatically he looked up and saw a girl who looked vaguely familiar talking to Nurse Hickey. He couldn’t make out what they were saying but the Nurse was smiling and then she pointed to Nick and the girl walked towards his bed.  

The girl approached Nick and said ‘Hi handsome, how are you feeling?’ 
 ‘I’m fine’ Nick sputtered ‘on the mend.’

‘Well I’m glad to hear it; you gave me quite a fright when you passed out like that.’

Nick, now realising who the girl was quickly said ‘It could have been a lot worse if you hadn’t come along.’

‘Well, I couldn’t see a sweet young boy like you being beaten to a pulp.’

‘Absolutely not’ Nick was struggling for words in the presence this beautiful girl. ‘I’m very sorry but I’ve forgotten your name.’

‘It’s Jane.’

‘Well Jane, thank you very much for coming to my rescue and thank you for coming to visit me in hospital.’

‘My pleasure, but I was a bit worried so my boss let me finish early this afternoon to come and visit you.’

‘Well, thank him for me as well,’ replied Nick who was struggling to find things to say.

‘The Nurse said you can go home tomorrow, so you must be on the mend. Anyway I better be off, it’s gone past visiting time.’ 

Jane bent down and kissed him gently on the cheek. ‘Now you be a bit more careful next time.’

 ‘Okay’ Nick croaked.

 With that, she smiled at him turned and walked away.

Nick sat there, mouth open, not realising that a tent was being erected under his sheets. 

Chapter 4
Monday 20 January 1964
Nick was released from hospital the following day and spent the following week convalescing at home. He returned to school the following Monday. First period after lunch was Gym which Nick was excused due to his injuries so he decided to go to the library. He found an interesting book entitled The Young Footballer by Robert Bateman and sat down to read it. After a few minutes the new school caretaker Mr. Campion, a tall strange man with a scar on his right cheek approached him. The old caretaker, Mr Munt, had recently retired due to ill health. Nick guessed that Mr Campion was about middle to late 40s with jet black hair swept straight back and a military look about him.
‘May I join you?’ he asked.

Nick looked around to make sure it was him he was addressing; he felt uncomfortable as he had never spoken to the man before.

‘If you like,’ he replied.

‘Heard you’ve had a bit of bother’ said Mr Campion.

‘You could say that’ replied Nick, a little wary of this strange man.

‘What you need is some self-defence lessons.’

‘I don’t really believe in violence.’

‘So you would rather get beaten up, ah?’

‘Of course not, but I…’

Before Nick could finish his sentence Mr Campion stood up and said ‘Meet me in the Gym after school and don’t be late.’ With that he was gone. 

What was that all about thought Nick unable to concentrate on his book; but being a curious chap Nick was outside the Gym within minutes of the school bell bring rung. He was greeted by Mr Freeman the Sports master, who said ‘he’s in there waiting for you.’     

Nick entered the Gym with some trepidation. Mr Campion was standing in the middle of the Gym; arms folded wearing a white tee-shirt and camouflaged trousers. 

‘So, how many attacked you?’ he asked

‘I think there were four,’ Nick replied.

‘Okay, first thing you need to know is that these types of attackers are basically cowards.’

‘Oh, that’s comforting,’ replied Nick sarcastically.

‘So that’s why you need to be prepared.’

‘Oh, so you’re saying it’s going to happen again? This just gets better.’

‘Listen Sonny-Jim, cut out the back chat, because next time it could be worse.’

‘Sorry,’ said Nick.

‘And I hear you were rescued by a girl,’ a smirk appeared on Mr Campion’s face.

‘That right’ muttered Nick, ‘and she was a real cracker.’

Mr Campion laughed ‘well stick with me lad and you’ll win the lady.’

All of a sudden Nick relaxed, looked Mr Campion square in the eyes and said ‘let’s do it.’ 
The next hour was taken up by Mr Campion explaining all the weapons the Nick had at his disposal, his feet, knees, elbows, hands and most important his head.  He first explained what to do if he was attacked from behind.  ‘If your back is to your assailant, you can bring your knee up without impediment and think for a moment of how a mule kicks with his rear legs. He will bring his leg up with the hoof close to his underside and then kick straight back. In some styles of martial arts, bringing your knee and foot up and also kicking straight back just happens to be termed a “mule kick.” Ideally, as you slam your heel backwards, you will hit the assailant’s knee, a very unstable, vulnerable joint. Regardless if you hit the knee or the shin, the rest of the technique requires you to allow your heel to slide down the assailant’s leg and onto the bones of the instep or toes. If you have been lucky enough to hit the knee or break the bones of the foot, don’t stop there. Use your head as a battering ram against your assailant’s nose and mouth, if your arms are pinned but your hands are free, attempt to step backwards as close to your assailant as possible, use your strongest hand to reach back and grab a handful of testicles or pinch as hard as you can on the inside of the thigh as close to the groin as possible. To get the idea of how light a pinch can cause pain, reach down and pinch the inside of your own thigh.’ 

Nick tried it and yes it did hurt. 

‘I think I’ve had enough for one day, I should be getting home for my tea,’ gasped Nick.

‘Sorry,’ replied Mr Campion ‘I didn’t realise the time. Mrs Campion will be wondering where I’ve got to. Wait outside and I’ll walk you to the school gates, just give me a minute to lockup.’ 

Mr Campion lived in a small bungalow by the entrance to the school, as they walked Nick asked ‘were you in the army?’

‘Oh yes’ replied Mr Campion, ‘Special Ops in France and Holland.’

‘Sounds exciting’

‘At times, I’ll tell you about one day if you’re interested.’

‘I’d like that.’

They had reached the school gates. Nick thanked Mr Campion, mounted his bike and rode home. Nick had agreed to have a lesson every night this week as he wasn’t aloud to train with the school football until his ribs were healed. The doctor told him that it will take between 6 and 10 weeks for them to heal. Nick was hoping that he would be fit for the Cup semi-final, if he was selected. The draw had not been made yet nor a date set. With all the cold weather and the frozen pitches Nick guessed that it would be played some time in February. 

Towards the end of January life seemed a lot rosier, apart from not being able to train with football everything else was going well. He really looked forward to his self defence lessons, which after the first week were reduced to twice a week; they somehow seem to have given him a lot more confidence. Nick was finding Mr Campion very good company. After each lesson he would tell Nick stories about the war, his adventures in France and Holland and the D-day landings. In the evenings after he had finished his homework he met up with his friends Keith and Don. They had become inseparable; some nights, especially when the weather was bad they would meet at one of their houses and listen to records, play games or watch television. There favourite programmes were The Saint, Ready Steady Go, Top of the Pops Dr Who and The Avengers. Keith had a crush on Cathy Gale who was played by Honor Blackman.; Nick was smitten with a pop singer called Cilla Black. Don said he was too young to fancy girls, but both Nick and Keith had noticed a large poster of Kathy Kirby on his bedroom wall.
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Chapter 5
Monday 3 February 1964
Good things always come to an end and life decided to change Nick Allen’s fortunes in the first week of February. Still being excused from Gym Nick met Keith in the library during afternoon break. 

‘Guess what?’ said Keith

‘Do you have to say that, just tell me,’ replied Nick.

‘We’re been drawn against Camp Comprehensive in the semi-final of the Benevolent Cup. It’s being played the week after half-term.’

 ‘That’s good, hopefully I’ll be fit enough to play.’

‘There’s something else.’

‘Go on, don’t keep me in suspenders.’

‘Alan Prince and Eddie Lee will be playing, that’s where they were put after being expelled from here.’

‘Oh dear; but you don’t know for sure that they will be playing, they might not get selected.’

‘Dream on.’

‘Ah, I’ve just thought, they can’t play because they are cup-tied.’

‘Get real Nick, this is not professional football. I don’t suppose it’s in the competition rules, after all how many people change schools in the middle of a year?’

‘Oh well, it will be nice to see him again.’

After his last lesson Nick made his way to the Gym for his self-defence class. I wonder if Mr Campion has any tips on dealing with enemies on a football pitch, thought Nick. He entered the Gym, but it was empty, which had never happened before. Strange thought Nick and went to see if Mr Freeman was in his office. He was.

‘Excuse me Sir,’ said Nick ‘have you seen Mr Campion?’

‘Not since break, he said he was helping Mr Bilk in the Rural Science classroom.’

‘Thank you Sir, I’ll just wait for a while.’

Nick waited for five minutes; this is not like him he thought, I’d better go and look for him.

The Rural Science class was away from the main buildings, next to the tennis courts. The door to the classroom faced the garden which was divided into small plots each allocated to a class for growing their plants. As Nick approached the class room the door it burst open and a strange man wearing a black raincoat, a bowler hat and carrying an umbrella came out and scurried away. Nick didn’t think the man saw him as he disappeared in the opposite direction. Nick ran to the classroom, entered it and found Mr Campion lying on the floor. He rushed over to him and lifted his head, he was still breathing.

‘Mr Campion’ Nick screamed ‘are you alright?’

Mr Campion opened his eyes and in a shallow voice he whispered ‘Nick my boy, look under the Rhod……..;’ then passed out. 

‘Mr Campion, Mr Campion,’ shouted Nick ‘wake up, wake up.’     

At that point Mr Bilk, the Rural Science teacher appeared. An amiable bald, overweight man in his late forties wearing a brown warehouse coat and carrying a small bag of peat, ‘What’s happened?’ he asked

‘I don’t know Sir’ replied Nick ‘I just found him like this. Is he going to be alright?’

‘I hope so boy. Quickly run to the secretary’s office and get her to phone for an ambulance.’

‘I think he was attacked Sir, I saw a man coming out of the classroom.’

‘Nonsense boy, I’ve been here all afternoon, I haven’t seen anyone. Now run along and get that ambulance and no more silly stories. I think he’s just had a heart attack.’

‘Yes Sir’ and Nick ran as fast as he could to the secretary’s office.

The ambulance came and took Mr Campion away.
 Three days later it was announced in assembly the Mr Campion died last night of a suspected heart attack. Nick decided then that he should visit Mrs Campion after school and pay his respects. Keith offered to go with him but said he thought it best to go alone. It was a miserable February day, the sky was full of clouds and the rain had drizzled down all day. Nick had never known a day to drag so much. All he wanted to do was go home cuddle his mum and have a good cry. When the final school bell sounded he packed his bag, making sure that he had all his homework, grabbed his coat and cap and made his way to the caretaker’s bungalow.  Nick knocked on the door and waited. Eventually the door opened and a stern faced woman dressed head to foot in black. Black skirt, black cardigan buttoned up to the neck, thick black stockings and black shoes. She had black hair with lots of grey showing tied in a ponytail, her face showed no trace of make-up.

She looked at Nick, ‘what do you want?’ she asked with an accent Nick didn’t recognise.

‘Sorry to disturb you Mrs Campion, but I just wanted to say how sorry I am to hear about your loss.’  

‘Are you that kid that Arthur has been seeing after school?’

‘Yes miss and I was the one who found him and called for the ambulance.’

‘Well you better come in, but I’m very busy.’

Mrs Campion shown Nick through to the living room. It was a dingy room with a dull brown two-seater settee and one matching chair. A small dining table covered with a thick brown and gold clothe and an old sideboard. There was also a couple of tea chests which Nick assumed were filled with ornaments and photographs that had previously adorned this room.

‘Are you moving?’ asked Nick.

‘Well, they will be looking for a new caretaker so I might as well get packed up now. Do you want a cup of tea or something?’

‘No thank you,’ replied Nick thinking that this might be a mistake; she doesn’t look like a grieving widow to me. ‘Mr Campion was a wonderful man, he taught me a lot, and he made me laugh with his stories of the war and such like.’

She turned to him, her dark eyes staring hard and said ‘they were just stories; Albert was never in the army; do you hear me.’

‘Yes miss’ Nick was now physically shaking.

‘The nearest he got to the army was the Home Guard, flat feet or something like.’

‘Well’ said Nick ‘I better go; my mum will wonder were I am. No need to show out.’

Nick grabbed his bag and rushed to the door. ‘Bye’ he shouted and quickly left the bungalow.

That evening Nick met Keith and Don outside the Blacksmiths Arms Public House and made their way down Hatfield Road towards the Pioneer Youth Club, which was situated in the old fire station. They bought themselves a bottle coca cola from Ma’s Bar and found themselves an empty table.

‘How did you get on at Mrs Campion’s?’ asked Keith.

‘Not very well’ replied Nick ‘she was very scary.’

‘What did she say?’ asked Don.

‘Not a lot; I didn’t stay long. She said that Mr Campion wasn’t in the army, which I don’t believe and she didn’t seem very upset either. I got the impression it was all a bit of a nuisance him dying. She had already started packing.’

‘It all seems a bit fishy to me’ said Keith ‘didn’t you say you saw someone leaving the classroom before you found Mr Campion?’

‘That’s right, but Mr Bilk told me I was mistaken.’

‘What does old F.B.I. know?’

Mr Bilk had the nickname F.B.I. which stood for Fat, Bald and Ignorant.  

 ‘I’m confused’ confessed Nick ‘I can’t believe Mr Campion died of a heart attack, he seemed so fit and I definitely saw someone come out of the classroom. And Mrs Campion knows more than she’s telling.’

‘Do you think’ said Don excitedly ‘that Mrs Campion hired a hit man to kill Mr Campion.’

‘Don’t be silly Don,’ said Keith looking up to the heavens. 

‘Wait a minute’ said Nick ‘he could be right. Mr Campion tried to tell me something as I held him in my arms, but for the life of me I can’t remember what it was’ and why would she lie about his military record, saying he was never in the Army.’ 
‘I think’ said Keith ‘that we need to check a few things out. First we need to confirm whether he was ever in the army.’

‘How do we do that?’ asked Don.

‘I don’t know, I’ll have to ask my dad,’ replied Nick

Next morning Nick was sitting down to breakfast with his parents and little brother.

‘Dad’ he asked ‘where can I find out someone’s military record?’

‘Well’ his dad replied ‘depends, was the person killed during the war or did he survive?’

‘He survived’

‘Okay, in that case you will need to contact the National Archives. Why don’t you phone them, you can get their number from directory enquires. Is for a school project?’

‘Yeh; something like that.’

As soon as Nick returned home after school he phoned directory enquires, obtained the number and then phoned the National Archives and asked them for details of Albert Campion’s military record. They said it might take awhile so they took his phone number and promised to call him back. Whilst at school Nick had asked the headmaster if he could miss school one day next week to attend Mr Campion’s funeral. Permission was greeted as long as he caught up with the school work he would miss. When Nick returned home from school the following day his mother told him that the National Archives had phoned and left a message. It said that they had no record of an Albert Campion ever doing Military Service.

Chapter 6 

Wednesday 12 February 1964

The following week Nick attended Albert Campion’s funeral. He was to be cremated at the Garston Crematorium at 2:00 pm. Nick wore his school uniform with his best white shirt and a black tie which he borrowed from his dad.  The Crematorium was situated in High Elms Lane, Garston which in between Watford and St. Albans.  Nick decided to bike there. There are two chapels available for funerals, Nick checked the notice board, and then made his way to the smaller of the two. Just as well they choose this one thought Nick as the chapel was virtually empty. At the front sat Mrs Campion accompanied by another woman who Nick recognised as the head cleaner at the school. Behind them were two more cleaners, to the right of the aisle sat the headmaster Mr Mills and his secretary. The only other mourners were two serious looking middle aged men dressed smartly, all in black, sitting at the back. 

After the service Nick made his way back to the car park where he had left his bicycle chained to the fence. He was just unlocking when he was approached by the two men he had seen sitting at the back in the chapel. Both men, in their late forties, spoke with posh accents, well dressed but didn’t look too intimidating. 
‘Nick Allen?’ one of them asked.

‘Who want’s to know?’ Nick replied.

‘We do,’ replied the other one, we would like to have a word. Come and sit in our car.’

‘My mother told me never to speak to strange men.’

‘We’re not strange’ said the taller of the two grabbing Nick by his collar and dragging him to their car which was parked not far away, ‘now less of the lip and get in there.’

 Nick was bundled into the back of the car followed by the taller of the two whilst the other went round the other side and got in. 

Nick was the first to speak ‘If you wanted me to get in the car aren’t you supposed to offer me sweets?’

‘Very funny’ said the tall guy.

‘Okay,’ said Nick who surprisingly wasn’t feeling scared ‘who are you and what do you want?’  

‘My name is Arthur Martin and this is Peter Wright, we work for British Intelligence and we know all about you Nick Allen.’ 

‘What does that mean – you know all about me?’ replied Nick sarcastically.

‘We have a file on you’ said Arthur.

‘A file on me – I’m only fourteen, why would you have a file on me?’

‘You helped solve the Great Train Robbery.’

‘I did solve the Great Train Robbery, not that I got any thanks,’

‘Well we’re grateful’ said Arthur.

‘Cheers.’

‘And we know that you’ve been corresponding with Christine Keeler, who at present is spending time at her Majesty’s pleasure,’ said Peter.
Nick chuckled ‘Yes, nice girl, totally mis-understood.’

Then in a serious voice Arthur said ‘you’ve also been enquiring about Albert Campion’s military record.’

‘That’s right, but without much success; seems he was never in the army.’

 Arthur looked at Peter, Peter nodded. ‘How much can we trust you’ he asked.

‘100%’ replied Nick ‘I’m the soul of discretion.’

‘This is serious lad’ said Arthur ‘we might need you help.’

Nick sensed this was not a game, ‘you can trust me and I’ll help you in any way I can. Do you want me to sign the Official Secrets Act.’

Arthur looked at Nick and raised his eyebrows.’

‘Sorry’ said Nick.

‘Okay’ said Arthur ‘first we need you to answer a few questions.’

‘Go ahead.’

‘You found Albert Campion when he collapsed.’

‘That’s right, when he didn’t turn up for my self-defence lesson I went looking for him. Mr Freeman said he thought he was in the Rural Science block, that’s where I found him.’

‘Did you see anything out of the ordinary?’

‘As I told Mr Bilk, I saw a man leaving the class room, he didn’t see me.’

Arthur looked at Peter then said ‘nobody told us this, what did he look like?’

‘I didn’t see his face, he was quite tall, broad, wearing a black raincoat, a bowler hat and carrying an umbrella.’ 

‘Interesting, did Arthur give you anything or say anything?’

‘He certainly didn’t give me anything; he tried to say something but I couldn’t catch what he said.’

‘Okay Nick, you’ve done well. If you remember anything else you’ll let us know.’ He took out his wallet extracted a business card and said ‘call me on this number; you can go now.’

    ‘Just a minute’ interrupted Nick ‘I’ve a few questions I need to ask. If I’m going to help you I need a bit more information.’

‘Like what’.

‘To start with, who is Albert Campion, if that’s his real name?’

Arthur smiled ‘It didn’t take you long to figure that out.’ Again Arthur looked at Peter, Peter nodded. ‘Okay, I’ll tell you what I can. You’re right Albert Campion was not his real name, but you don’t need to know his real name. We’ll still call him Albert.’

‘Okay’ said Nick.

Arthur continued ‘Albert was a member of the S.A.S. during the war, after that he was recruited into MI6 and worked as a double agent in Russia. Ever heard of Guy Burgess?’

‘Vaguely, he was a spy wasn’t he?’

‘That’s right; along with Donald Maclean and Kim Philby they passed information to the Soviet Union during World War II and into the early 1950s. We believe that there are two other members of this ring. Arthur was working in Moscow trying to find out who they are. Unfortunately he was betrayed and fled back to England. Our intelligence informs us that there is a contract out on him; so we gave him a new identity but it looks like they may have found him.’

‘But they said he died of a heart attack’ interrupted Nick.

‘That’s what it looked like, but your information changes everything. We’ll have to do another post-mortem.’
‘Might be a bit difficult since they have just cremated him,’ said Nick looking up at the black smoke coming out of the chimney. Nick looked at Arthur then Peter, ‘That wasn’t Albert in that coffin was it?’

‘You’re learning fast’ replied Peter.

‘Okay, I won’t ask the obvious. But I think Mrs Campion has something to do with it, she didn’t seem the grieving widow to me.’

‘Right again; but she wasn’t Albert’s wife; she worked for us, keeping an eye on him while he was in hiding; anything else?’
 ‘I think that’s all; that’s a lot to take in.’
‘Okay’ said Arthur ‘off you go, and not a word to anyone, not even Keith or Don.’

‘My lips are sealed’ replied Nick, hoping that they wouldn’t see that he had his fingers crossed.

Chapter 7
Wednesday 19 February 1964
The following week was half-term and with his ribs now feeling a lot better Nick set himself a training programme hoping to get himself fit enough for the cup semi-final next week. It was late Wednesday afternoon. Nick was just finishing a vigorous 5 mile run which included Batchwood Golf Course. He was on the road which ran between the 2nd and 4th hole when his spotted three lads walking towards him. He immediately spotted the ginger hair of his arch-enemy Alan Prince. Oh no not again thought Nick.
‘Well if it isn’t my old mate Nick Allen’ said Prince, with that crooked  smile that Nick despised ‘you’re looking good, all your injuries seemed to have healed up nicely.’ 

‘Yes, I’m fine, thank you for you concern. Now if you don’t mind I’d like to get on with my run.’

‘Not so fast, I think we have some unfinished business to attend to.’

‘And what might that be, you’ve already given me one good beating.’
‘Well that’s not enough.’ screamed Prince, ‘you got me expelled and they’ve sent me to that dump of a school.’

Before Nick could answer Eddie Lee jumped out of the hedge and grabbed him from behind pinning his arms to his body.

Prince smiled ‘I think one more beating should do, just enough to stop you playing in the semi-final next week. Nick dropped his chin on his chest; he could feel Eddie Lee’s hot breath on his neck. Then with all the strength he could muster he jerked his head backwards. A sickening crunch was followed by a piecing scream as Eddie released his grip raising his hands to his face. Nick spun around and kicked him between the legs. Lee fell to the floor doubled up in pain. Nick turned around to face the others and screamed ‘come on then who’s next?’
Alan Prince turned and ran followed closely by his two friends. Nick chased after them screaming ‘Aaaaahhhhhh’.

After about twenty yards Nick stopped, totally exhausted, and bent forward placing his hands on his knees gasping for breath. He then slumped down on the side of the road, looked back, Eddie was just getting to his feet, blood pouring out of his nose. He looked down the road and saw Nick jump to his feet and then he ran off in the opposite direction. Nick jogged the final mile home, had a bath and his tea and settled down to a quiet night in front of the television. 

It was about 7:30 when the door bell rang.
‘I’ll get it’ said Mrs Allen.

‘Wonder who that is?’ enquired Mr Allen.

Nick just shrugged.

The door to the living room opened and a very worried Mrs Allen came in followed by a policeman. ‘He wants a word with Nick.’

‘Sorry to bother you, but I need young Nick to accompany me down to the station.’ said the policeman who Nick recognised as P.C. Adams, the older brother of Dave Adams who was in the same class as Nick.
‘What for?’ asked Nick

‘I’m afraid there has been a serious complaint of assault,’ said P.C. Adams.

‘Nick,’ asked Mr Allen ‘what have you done?’

‘It was self defence’ pleaded Nick.

‘Well you can make your statement to the sergeant down at the station’ replied the P.C. Adams.

‘I’m coming with you; I’ll just get my coat’ said a worried Mr Allen.
A blue and white Morris Minor was parked outside; Nick and Mr Allen made themselves comfortable in the back seat. The Police station was situated in an old Victorian brick building in Victoria Street. Nick and Mr Allen were led in and introduced to the custody sergeant. 
‘So this is the little thug’ said the sergeant whom Nick took an instant dislike to. The Sergeant was about fifty, overweight, small piggy eyes and greasy grey hair.

‘My son is not a thug’ protested Mr Allen.  

‘Of course not; that’s why some poor lad is in hospital with a broken nose a severe damage to his nether regions. I reckon it’ll be borstal for you lad.’
‘What happened to “innocent until proved guilty”’ asked Mr Allen.

‘Well, three witnesses have sworn it was an unprovoked attack.’

Nick could feel his blood boiling, but he could hear the words of Mr Campion in his head ‘never lose you temper, stay calm, that way you will always be in control’.

‘Councillor Lee has made it his crusade to get scum like you off the streets and make St Albans a safer place,’ smirked the sergeant.

‘What’s it got to do with Councillor Lee?’ asked Mr Allen.

‘Don’t you know anything; it’s his son that thug of yours put in hospital.’

‘I’d like to make a phone call’ demanded Nick.

‘What?’ gasped the sergeant.

‘A phone call, the law states that I’m entitled to one phone call.’

‘You’ve been watching too many TV cop shows, anyway who are you going to phone; your solicitor? laughed the sergeant.
‘Why would I need a solicitor? I’m innocent; now can I make that phone call. please’
‘I suppose so, come this way.’

The sergeant led Nick to an empty office, ‘you can use that phone.’

‘Thank you’ said Nick looking at the sergeant ‘you can go now, this is a private call.’ 

The sergeant left ‘and don’t be long.’

Nick pulled a card out of his wallet and dialled a number and made his call. When he had finished he came back out and sat down next to his father.
‘Alright son?’ asked Mr Allen giving Nick a nervous look.
Nick smiled ‘Give it five minutes and we’ll be out of here’ he whispered to his dad.

Two minutes later Nick heard a phone ringing in a distant office. Another two minutes passed and door of the office opened and an important looking plain clothes policeman came out, took the sergeant aside and started talking softly to him. Nick couldn’t hear what they were saying but the sergeant wasn’t looking too happy. A minute later the sergeant came over to Nick and his father and said ‘you can go now, all charges have been dropped.’  

‘That’s it? No apology or explanation’ asked Mr Allen.

‘Looks like your son has got friends in high places’ replied the sergeant.

Nick smiled to himself, turned and walked over to the sergeant ‘and when I tell my friends in high places how I’ve been treated by you in this poor excuse for a police station, I wouldn’t want to be in your shoes. I hear that they are looking for shelf stackers in Woolworth.s. Come on dad let’s go I think we’ve outstayed our welcome.’ 

Nick and Mr Allen left the police station and walked round the corner to St Peters Street to catch a bus home.

‘So who are these friends in high places’ asked Mr Allen.

‘MI5’ replied Nick.

‘Ask a stupid question…..’
Chapter 8
Wednesday 26 February 1964
 The semi-final of the Benevolent Cup between Sandridge Grammar School and Camp Comprehensive was scheduled for a 2:00 pm kick off on the Wednesday, first week after half term.  Nick had recovered enough to convince Mr Freeman, the sports master, that he was fit enough to play and also that he had repaired his friendship with Keith and they were both raring to go. Although both boys were still in their third year Mr Freeman had no hesitation of playing them in this important match even though the majority of players would be a year older. Keith who was tall for his age and at least two inches taller than Nick would play centre forward whilst Nick would play inside right. Nick was a bit worried about playing against Camp Comprehensive, the school had a bit of a reputation as it was situated in a tough area of St Albans. The catchment area of the school included a council estate called Dellfields, not a place you would visit after dark. But luckily Sandridge had been drawn at home; unfortunately this home advantage hadn’t helped Sandridge as they walked off the pitch at half time trailing by two goals to nil. It was clear to all that Camp school were all-round a better team than Sandridge. As a spectacle it was an enjoyable game and with a large slice of luck and some fine goalkeeping by Simon Francis, Sandridge were only two goals down. Even Nick had to admit, Alan Prince was playing out of his skin. He was everywhere, he definitely had a point to prove and he had scored both goals.

As the downcast Sandridge players sucked on their half-time oranges Mr Freeman called Nick over. ‘I think we’ve got a problem Nick,’ he said

‘I know,’ Nick replied ‘what do you think we should do? They are a much better side then we are.’

‘Alan Prince is their star player, everything evolves from him. We need to neutralise his threat.’

‘Do you want someone to man-mark him sir?’

‘That may work, but we are still two goals down, we need something else.’

Mr Freeman went silent for a moment, deep in thought, and then he said, ‘listen Nick, what I’m going to ask you to do is something that goes against everything I believe in; I shudder just thinking about it. But sometimes the needs of the many outweigh the needs of the few.’
‘What is it sir, what do you want me to do?’ pleaded Nick.

Mr Freeman took a deep breath, then said  ‘Take out Alan Prince.’

Nick smiled to himself ‘It’s not a thing I agree with sir, but I’ll do it for the school.’ 

   ‘Good boy, I knew I can rely on you.’
Mr Freeman went back to the team and said ‘right lads, we have a difficult half ahead of us, so I’m going to make a tactical change. Nick Allen will drop back to right-half and Barry Dudley will play alongside Keith at inside right. Nick will man-mark Alan Prince and try to reduce the threat he is causing. This way, perhaps we will see more of the ball; all clear?’
‘All clear,’ the team shouted as they made their way back onto the pitch. 

The whistle blew and Nick made his way straight to Alan Prince.

‘Well, well, if it isn’t my old mate Nick come to mark me, I am honoured.’ laughed Prince.

‘It’s nice to see you to’ replied Nick ‘but we can’t let you continue playing as well as you did in the first half.’

 ‘I’m flattered.’

‘No, give credit where it’s due, even to a scum-bag like you.’

‘There’s no need for names now, after all it’s just a game.’

‘Sorry, force of habit. By the way, how’s your mate Eddie?’

‘Nasty break, but he’s on the mend. How did you get away with that, I thought we had you good and proper?’

‘Good will always overcome evil, didn’t they teach you that at Sunday school? ‘
Prince laughed, ‘well it’s been nice talking to you, but I need to score my hat-trick.’ And with that he went in search of the ball.

Nick needed to act fast, remove the threat of Alan Prince and inspire his team to score three goals. He knew what he had to do; by keeping close to Prince, it made him drift out to the wing to find space. Nick let him wander, keeping about ten yards away. Then it happened, Prince received the ball wide on the right and started to make progress down the wing. Nick chased him and as soon as he was in catching distance he executed a perfect sliding tackle. Perfect, except a fraction too late, and a fraction too high. Prince felt the full force of Nick’s studs as they broke his Fibula. 
Prince screamed in agony, the referee, Mr Burridge the English teacher, came running over. ‘I say young Nick. That was a bit late.’

‘Sorry sir’ replied Nick ‘I got there as soon as I could.’

Mr Freeman, who was a trained first-aider rushed over to examine Prince. ‘It looks broken; we’ll need to call an ambulance.’ He looked at Nick, shook his head and said ‘terrible accident.’
An ambulance was called and the game was suspended for 30 minute whilst they waited for assistance. Prince was then taken to hospital and the game continued. Losing Alan Prince and being reduced to ten men had the desired affect and the Camp team looked a shadow of their former selves. It didn’t take long for Sandridge to score, a fine through ball from Nick set up Keith for his first goal. Barry Dudley scored the second, Keith headed the third and Nick sealed victory with a well taken penalty. Sandridge won 4-2 and were in the final of the St Albans Benevolent Cup.
Chapter 9

Friday 28 February 1964
The following Friday Nick, Keith and Don were sitting in Nick’s front room watching Ready Steady Go. Nick was particularly excited because his favourite pop star Cilla Black, who was currently number one in the charts with her song Anyone Who Had A Heart, was performing tonight.
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 When the programme had finished Keith started moaning about the Rural Science lesson he had this morning.

‘It was so boring’ he exclaimed ‘Old F.B.I. went on and on about the beauty of Rhododendrons, did you know there are over 1000 species and they can be evergreen or deciduous?’

‘Not interested’ said Don.

‘Sorry’ said Nick, ‘what did you say?’

‘He was talking about boring Rhododendrons’ interrupted Don.

‘That’s it’ exclaimed Nick, jumping from his seat. ‘At last I’ve remembered what Mr Campion said.’

Together both Keith and Don said ‘what?’

‘Nick my boy, look under the Rhododendron.’ blurted out Nick. ‘That’s what he said’
‘What does that mean?’ enquired Don.
‘I think he must have hidden something their and I think he wanted me to find it.’

‘Is there something you haven’t told us?’ asked Keith with a very inquisitive look.
‘Well yes,’ replied Nick dying to tell them everything ‘but I’m sworn to secrecy’.

‘I know I’m going to regret this, but what happens now?’ asked Keith.

‘Let me think’ said Nick standing up and looking out of the window ‘we need to find the Rhododendron bush he was referring to. Keith, you seem to be an expert, do you know what a Rhododendron bush looks like?’

‘Of course I do F.B.I. showed us one in the school garden.’

‘That’s it; that must be the one Mr Campion was referring to.’

‘So what do we do now?’ asked Don.

‘Simple,’ said Nick ‘we go and dig it up.’
‘And when do you intend to do that?’ asked Keith. 

‘We shall go tonight, right away, once we’ve assembled the equipment.’ replied Nick.

 ‘What do you mean – we?’ enquired Keith.
‘Listen chaps, as I’ve said I’m sworn to secrecy, but I can tell you this is of national importance. Think of it as an adventure, we might even get a medal.’

‘Okay’ said Don ‘I’m always ready to serve my country, tell me what to do.’

‘I know I’m going to regret this, but I’m in’ said Keith reluctantly.

‘Good lads, this is the plan; go home and get your bikes and a flashlight. We’ll also need some digging tools; I’ll get my dad’s spade, can you two bring a trowel each? Meet back here at 20:30.’

Nick was waiting outside mounted on his bike, holding his dad’s garden spade when Keith and Don returned.

‘Okay lads’ Nick said ‘We’ll cycle to the school, leave the bikes where no-one can see them, just follow me and I’ll show you. Well climb over the fence there and make our way to the garden. They haven’t employed another caretaker yet so no one should be about.’     

 ‘What about Mrs Campion’ asked Keith ‘is she still living in the bungalow?’
‘I’m not sure’ replied Nick ‘we’ll ride past and see if there is a light on, but I don’t think she will be wandering the grounds.’

There were no lights on in the bungalow when the three boys cycled past. To the right of the school there was some waste land adjacent to the bike shed. They left their bikes their, out of sight from anyone passing by and climbed over the adjacent fence. Using their flashlights they made their way to the school garden where Keith identified the now famous Rhododendron bush. 
‘Right chaps’ said Nick as they gathered round the bush ‘the ground looks reasonably soft so this shouldn’t take long.’

Nick was holding his dad’s spade, which hadn’t been that easy to carry whilst cycling his bike. ‘Shine your torches down there and I’ll start digging.’

‘I was thinking’ interrupted Keith, ‘we don’t know what we are looking for and to start digging away with that thing might damage it. I suggest we use the trowels and dig carefully.’

‘Good point’ said Nick ‘okay, well I don’t have a trowel, so you two start digging and I’ll hold the flashlight and keep watch.’

Keith and Don got down on their knees and started carefully digging around the base of the bush.’

Keith looked at Don and whispered ‘how did he do that?’

‘I heard that’ chuckled Nick ‘less talking and more digging.’

It was a full five minutes before Don said ‘I think I’ve found something’.

Nick dropped to his knees and said ‘show me’.

Don carefully scraped away some earth to reveal an old Golden Virginia tobacco tin. 
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He picked it up and shook it then said ‘there’s something inside.’   

‘Okay’ said Nick snatching the tin from Don ‘quickly fill the hole in and let’s get out of this place.’

Nick put the tin in his rucksack grabbed his spade and started pushing the soil around the bush. When he was satisfied he said ‘that will do let’s go.’
It didn’t take them long to climb back over the fence and cycle back to Nick’s house. In their rush to get home they failed to notice the light in a window of the caretaker’s bungalow and the outline of Mrs Campion. 

Without saying hello to anyone the three boys ran upstairs to Nick’s bedroom. They sat in a circle on the floor looking at the rusty tobacco tin which was placed in the middle of them.

‘I think we should open it, because it’s getting late and I should be home.’ said Don.

 ‘You know how Nick likes to be dramatic’ replied Keith.’

‘Okay, I’ll open it’ said Nick grabbing the tin and prising the lid off. Inside the tin they found a small key wrapped in a piece of paper. On the paper was written
REX+5!-1
‘What does that mean?’ asked Keith.

‘Well’ said Nick ‘we have a key, so this must be a clue to what the key open’s.’
‘No shit Sherlock, I know that, what does the code mean?’

‘No idea, but Don’s right its getting late, let’s meet up tomorrow when are minds are fresh and I’m sure we’ll crack the code.’

Chapter 10

Saturday 29 February 1964
Nick had suggested that they needed an early start so he invited Keith and Don for breakfast. Mrs Allen liked to entertain even if it wasn’t for her friends. So the three boys sat down to enjoy a full English breakfast. First course was a bowl of prunes which Mrs Allen insisted they had because ‘it would make them regular’. This was followed by a plate of egg, bacon, sausage and fried bread. Toast and marmalade was available if they had any room left. Nick explained to his mum that this was a business breakfast and they had lots of things to discuss. Mrs Allen thought how good it was to see the lads playing nicely.
As they sipped on their tea and nibbled on their toast Nick asked ‘any ideas on the code?’

Don was the first to answer ‘I was thinking about the REX part, isn’t REX a dogs name?’

‘How silly of us’ giggled Keith ‘all we need to do is find a dog that’s got a keyhole instead of an arsehole.’

Nick and Don burst out laughing.

Mrs Allen turned to her husband who was doing the washing up and said ‘it’s so good to see him happy again.’

Composing himself Nick said ‘let’s look up REX in the dictionary and see what it says.’ 

‘Good idea’ replied Keith.

‘Dad’ Nick shouted ‘can you get the dictionary please.’

‘What did your last slave die of’ replied Mr Allen.

‘Not doing as he was told’ laughed Nick.

‘Cheeky sod’ said Mr Allen throwing the dictionary at Nick.

‘Thanks dad.’

Nick quickly open the dictionary and turned to the relevant page ‘here it is – Rex-Reigning king. That’s it, king and the plus sign – Kings Cross. Gosh that was easy. It must be a key to a left luggage locker and the other part must be the number.’
‘Five something, take away one, I wonder what the exclamation mark means’ asked Keith.
‘Never seen that before; I’ll have to ask dad, he is good at Maths. Dad’ shouted Nick ‘you’re needed again’

‘And what is it this time your highness,’ asked Mr Allen.

‘Sorry to bother you ol’ chap’ said Nick putting on his posh voice ‘what does an exclamation sign mean in mathematics?’

‘An exclamation sign means factorial, for example – six factorial means six times five times four times three times two times one; easy.’

‘Thank you Jeeves you may go now.’

Mr Allen smiled and gave Nick a playful slap on the head.

‘So’ said Nick ‘five factorial must mean five times four times three times two times one, which is one hundred and twenty.’

‘Therefore’ interrupted Keith ‘one hundred and twenty minus one is one hundred and nineteen. That’s the number of the left luggage locker at Kings Cross station, elementary.’ He smiled and shouted ‘More toast Mrs Hudson.’
The boys finished their breakfast, thanked Mrs Allen and then made their way to the back garden.

‘What happens now?’ asked Keith.
‘Fancy a train ride to London?’ replied Nick

Permission was granted and all three boys were allowed to go to London on the pretext of train spotting. As they stood on the station platform Don asked ‘is this going to be dangerous?’

‘Shouldn’t be, all we are going to do is collect whatever is in the locker’ replied Nick.

‘And then?’

‘Well that depends what’s in the locker. We’ll take it home and then make our next decision.’
Keith, who was taking this journey very seriously, was scouring the platform, suddenly said ‘Nick, I think we have a problem.’

‘What is it?’ asked Nick.

‘Look’ pointing down the platform ‘isn’t that your friend Mrs Campion.’ 

‘Do you think see has seen us?’

‘I wouldn’t be surprised; do you think she’s following us?’

‘Not sure, but we can’t take the risk. Tell you what, let’s sit on that bench and pretend we are actually train spotting, and then we’ll get the next train.’
Being prepared for every eventuality, each boy took out a note book and pencil and sat waiting patiently for the next train. The eleven fifty to St Pancras was on time and the boys duly took its number and watched as Mrs Campion boarded it. As train chugged out of the station the three boys all waved at Mrs Campion as she contemptuously looked out of her window.

‘How long till the next train?’ asked Don.

‘Fifteen minutes, just enough time to grab a cup of tea’ replied Nick. 
The journey to St. Pancras was uneventful; the boys took a few train numbers just to pass the time. Once they arrived they left the station and took the short walk to King Cross station and quickly found the left luggage room. Nick had an uneasy feeling about this. Perhaps he should have phoned Arthur and Peter; was he getting carried away again thinking he could do it all himself. No he thought; he would recover whatever is in the locker, check it out and if it was important then he would phone them.
‘Do you think we’ve been followed’ asked Keith.

‘Not sure’ replied Nick, now getting extremely nervous.

‘What’s the plan?’

‘Okay, this is how we play it. I’ll go to the locker and remove the contents. You two keep watch from a safe distance. If you see anything suspicious, warn me or create a scene or something. Okay?’
‘Good plan, I’ll go in first and stand the other side of the locker, Don you stay this side. That way Nick’s covered from both sides. When you’ve retrieved whatever is in the locker make your way back here. I’ll be covering your back. Then we’ll make a bolt back to St Pancras.’

Nick was surprised and impressed how calm Keith was and Don just looked as if he was enjoying himself. 

Keith entered the room and casually walked past locker 119 and parked himself about twenty yards away. Nick had a good look around before he went in, it looked safe enough. He approached the locker, breathing heavily as he inserted the key. Closing his eyes he gave it a turn. Click. It opened he looked inside, there was an old briefcase. He took a deep breath, took out the briefcase, closed the door, locked it and walked away. Keith, whose eyes were everywhere, waited a few seconds then followed Nick out. Nick stopped when he reached Don, looked at him and nodded. Don nodded back. A few seconds later Keith reached them and said ‘all clear, let’s just take it easy and not draw attention to ourselves, so they casually walked back to St Pancras.    
It was 2:00 pm when the boys arrived back at St Albans station.

‘What are we going to do now?’ asked Don.

‘We can’t really go home, it’s too early. Let’s pop along to the cinema and see what on.’ replied Nick.

‘I think they are still showing From Russia With Love at the Gaumont’ said Keith.

‘Excellent’ said Nick ‘and very appropriate.’
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Chapter 11
Monday 2 March 1964 
‘What did you do with the briefcase?’ asked Keith as he walked with Nick after parking their bicycles in the bike shed the following Monday morning. 
‘I’ve hid it safe at home,’ replied Nick.

‘I thought you were going to give it to those men you know.’

‘I will, in a few days. I still think Mrs Campion involved somehow and I’m a bit suspicious about Mr Bilk.’

‘Do you think they’re in it together?’

‘Could be; now listen if anything suspicious happens to me or I give you the nod, I want you to phone this number and ask for Arthur Martin, he’ll know what to do.’
‘Do you think someone else is after the briefcase?’

‘We’ll soon find out.’

Just before the end of their last period, whilst Nick was trying to solve a particularly difficult simultaneous equation, the school secretary, an efficient woman in her mid-fifties with permed white hair, came into the class and whispered something to Mr Asher, the Maths Teacher. He nodded to her and she left.

‘Nick’ he called ‘Mr Bilk would like to see you after school in his class room.’

‘Okay sir, thank you,’ replied Nick turning to Keith and giving him the nod.

When the school bell rung for the end of the day Keith packed his things away very quickly and rushed out of the classroom, Nick took his time. He took a deep breath and thought to himself this is it, keep calm. He made his way to the Rural Science classroom very slowly; when he entered Mr Bilk was waiting.

‘Ah, there you are young Allen’ he said ‘come in, come in. I expect you are wondering why I wanted to see you.’

‘It had crossed my mind’ replied Nick putting his bag down and leaning against a cupboard.’

‘Well just wait here a moment, someone wants a quiet word with you.’

Nick smiled to himself; no points for guessing who that will be he thought.
A minute later Mr Bilk returned with Mrs Campion.

‘Hello Mrs Campion or whatever your name is,’ said Nick.

‘You think yourself so smart’ replied Mrs Campion with that accent Nick couldn’t place, but it could be Russian he thought. ‘Where are those papers, I know you have them?’

‘Sorry’ said Nick ‘don’t know what you are talking about.’

‘And where is the money.’ demanded Mr Bilk.

Nick looked confused ‘definitely know nothing about any money.’
Mr Bilk looked crossly at Mrs Campion ‘you said he had the money.’

‘There is no money you fool it’s the papers I want’ she snapped as she pulled out a small revolver from her handbag.

‘There is no need for that; I’m getting out of here’ he said as he made for the door.

‘You’re going nowhere’ she said as she aimed the gun and fired. Mr Bilk fell to his knees. She quickly turned, pointing the gun at Nick and said ‘you see I’m not mucking around, give me those papers.’

As she came closer to Nick he quickly grabbed the wrist holding the gun with his left hand. At the same time he grabbed the barrel with his right hand pushing it towards her rolling it against her thumb. She seemed to freeze as the barrel pointed towards her. Nick saw his chance and head butted her straight on the nose. She screamed as the blood sprayed out. Nick grabbed the gun and threw it down the classroom then caught her with a beautiful right hook to the chin. She was out cold before she hit the ground. Nick looked around and found some garden string and quickly tied her hands and feet. He then went to attend Mr Bilk who wasn’t badly injured. The bullet had hit him on the shoulder; there was no exit wound which meant there wasn’t much blood. Nick pulled out his handkerchief and told Mr Bilk to hold against his wound. At that point Arthur Martin burst in followed by four uniformed policemen and Keith Nevin. 

‘Looks like you’ve got it all under control’ said a smiling Arthur Martin.

‘The things I do for my country’ replied Nick with an even bigger smile on his face.

‘You’ve got the papers?’

‘Yes sir, they’re safe.’

‘Good, well you better get off home and let me clear up here. I’ll meet you tomorrow after school; I believe there’s a nice little coffee bar at the top of the town called Sally’s.  I’ll be their about 4:00 and don’t forget those papers.’
Tuesday 3 March 1964

Arthur Martin was already seated when Nick entered Sally’s the following day. Arthur was sipping a double espresso and a delicious looking strawberry milkshake was waiting for Nick. Nick handed over the briefcase which Arthur immediately examined. After about five minutes Arthur said ‘it’s exactly what we thought Anthony Blunt is the fourth man; it’s all here.’

‘So why didn’t Mr Campion give you the papers, and who was Mrs Campion and how is Mr Bilk involved’
Arthur laughed ‘one question at a time. Now listen I’ll tell you all; well what I can. Politics and ideologues are a strange thing; it’s difficult to believe 100% of what a political party stands for, the same goes for an ideology. When you are a double agent you can see bits of good in both sides, which can confuse you. Sometimes, if you are a double agent you can even forget whose side you are actually on.  Mr Campion was a good friend of Anthony Blunt so he was a bit reluctant to turn him in. Mrs Campion, who was in love with Blunt wanted to destroy the evidence.’

‘Was Mr Blunt in love with Mrs Campion?’ asked Nick.

‘Hardly, you see he batted for the other side.’

‘What does that mean?’
‘You’ll find out one day’

‘Anyway Mrs Campion is well ugly.’

‘Apparently she was a bit of a looker in her day.’

‘If you say so; now, what about Mr Bilk?’

Arthur laughed ‘well he was in love with Mrs Campion. She told him that Mr Campion was hiding a lot of money which really belonged to her and she needed his help to find it. She promised that they would run off together and live happily ever after.’

‘The poor deluded fool; so was Mr Campion murdered?’

‘That’s the sad part – he was.’

‘That’s awful, how was it done.’

‘We have you to thank for that. The person you saw leaving the class room wearing a bowler hat was a top Russian assassin, we don’t know his name.’

‘Gosh, how did he kill him?’

‘We think he used an umbrella gun. An autopsy was performed and it was found that Mr Campion’s lungs were full of fluid - due to heart failure - and that his liver was damaged due to blood poisoning. His intestines, lymph nodes, and heart were riddled by small haemorrhages, and his white blood cell count was shockingly high. During the autopsy, a large block of tissue was cut from around a 2 mm diameter puncture wound on Mr Campion’s right thigh. In it, the examiners discovered a strange 1.52-mm wide metal pellet, about the size of the head of a pin. The pellet was actually a jeweller’s watch bearing, used in precision watch making. This pellet had been drilled and filled with a poison called Ricin.’
Nick sipped his milkshake.

‘So what will happen now?’

‘Well, Mr Wright and I will be having a quiet word with Anthony Blunt
 very soon.’

‘I suppose this will go in my file.’

‘I expect so.’

‘No medals then?’

‘Not this time.’

‘I can’t believe that old Bilky fancied Mrs Campion.’

‘Not everyone had you impeccable taste in women Nick; by the way how is Christine these days?’

‘She seems okay, I think she likes receiving my letters, they cheer her up.’

‘That’s good. You’re a kind and thoughtful lad. I better be going, oh I’ve bought you some comics and magazines, I think you’ll find them educational.’ 
With that he stood up, shook Nick’s hand and said ‘goodbye Nick, but I think we might be meeting again soon.’
That evening Nick was telling Keith and Don about the events in the Rural Science class room. When he had finished and had answered all their questions Keith said ‘what shall we do now?’

‘I think’ Nick replied ‘we shall do some revising.’

‘Revising what?’ exclaimed Keith.

‘Human biology, Mr Martin gave me a new text book, see?’ handing a magazine to Don. 
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‘Wow’ said Don opening the centre fold ‘that’s what I call a nice Catholic girl.’

Nb: All characters in this novel are entirely fictitious and any similarity to actual people is purely coincidental
Allen Nicklin©2010 
� Arthur Martin set up a meeting with Blunt on April 23, 1964. At that meeting, Blunt admitted that he had worked for the Soviet government.
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